IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ROSALYN ANN SANDERS,	:	
Petitioner,	:	
v.	:	CASE NO. SC00-1688
STATE OF FLORIDA,	:	
Respondent.	:	
	_ :	

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

On Review from the District Court of Appeal, First District, State of Florida

> STEVEN A. BEEN Public Defender's Office Leon County Courthouse 301 South Monroe Street Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904) 488-2436 ext. 114 Florida Bar No. 335142 steveb@mail.co.leon.fl.us Attorney for Petitioner

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On a retrial ordered due to juror misconduct, Rosalyn Sanders was convicted of first degree murder and shooting into an occupied vehicle, and sentenced to life in prison. (1R1,10,40, 62,67;1R3T445,448). Appeal was taken to the First District Court of Appeal, which affirmed and certified conflict with <u>T.E.J. v.</u> <u>State</u>, 749 So. 2d 557 (Fla. 2d DCA 2000), <u>Stanton v. State</u>, 746 So. 2d 1229 (Fla. 3d DCA 1999), and <u>Brown v. State</u>, 652 So. 2d 877 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995), on the question of whether the state's failure to prove an element of the crime (premeditation) constitutes fundamental error that may be raised for the first time on appeal. <u>Sanders v. State</u>, 25 Fla. L. Weekly D1660 (Fla. 1st DCA, July 12, 2000).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Felix Parker was found on February 1, 1997, lying in the intersection of Berwick and Park streets in Pensacola, bleeding from a single gunshot wound to the head. (1T130-131,180-182). A bullet had entered Parker's left cheek, just behind the mouth, and exited below his right ear, in the neck, damaging the carotid artery, and causing death from blood loss. (1T180-182).

The state's version of events, asserted in opening and closing, was that Larry Moore drove Felix Parker and Iris Crenshaw to the corner of Berwick and Baars in order to purchase

crack cocaine from Rosalyn Sanders and Myron Davis; after an inspection of the cocaine, however, there was no purchase; then, as Moore, with Parker and Crenshaw, was pulling away in his truck, Rosalyn Sanders realized, correctly or not, that the would be customers had stolen some of her cocaine; she and Davis shouted at Moore to stop, and Sanders pulled out a gun and fired five shots at Moore's departing truck; one of those shots struck and killed Felix Parker. (1T122-124;3T380-382,384).

The state presented three eyewitnesses, Iris Crenshaw, Larry Moore, and Myron Davis. Crenshaw testified that she was with Parker when Parker flagged down Larry Moore's pickup truck and paid Moore five dollars to drive Parker and Crenshaw to Sixth Avenue, to Parker's aunt's house. (1T146-147). Moore, without saying why, took them instead to Berwick Street, parked the truck, and tried to get Parker to buy some crack cocaine. (1T150-151). Moore left the truck, and kept coming back, asking Parker to buy. (1T151). Then Moore jumped into the truck, and pulled off, and Crenshaw heard shots firing. (1T151-152). She and Parker both turned around and she saw Rosalyn Sanders standing there shooting. (1T151-152). Crenshaw saw that Parker had been shot, and told Moore, who stopped the truck, pushed Parker and Crenshaw out, and drove off. (1T153).

According to Larry Moore, he took Crenshaw and Parker to Berwick Street because they wanted to buy crack cocaine. (2T202-

203,210). Moore got out of the truck, got fifty dollars worth of crack from Rosalyn Sanders, and took it back to the truck. (2T203). Parker said he did not want it, so Moore took the crack back to Sanders. (2T203). Sanders then sent Myron Davis to the truck with some other crack, but Parker said it was not what he wanted. (2T203). As Moore drove off, he heard gunshots, looked back, and saw Sanders holding a gun pointed at the truck. (2T203-204). Moore was not asked, and did not testify, whether he had returned all of the crack cocaine to Sanders.

Myron Davis testified that he showed Moore some crack cocaine he had obtained from Sanders, but Moore did not want it. (2T243-244). Davis denied having gone up to the truck at all, and said he did not realize there had been anyone in the truck besides Moore. (2T243-244).

The main evidence relating to premeditation was Davis's testimony that: when Moore drove off, Sanders said that was not "all her stuff," "that ain't all of it, that ain't it;" Davis said, "that's all you gave me, and that's all he gave me;" Davis and Sanders both shouted at Moore, and Sanders pulled out a revolver and started shooting at the truck. (2T244-246). Davis figured that Moore had taken some of Sanders's cocaine. (2T258). Davis testified he did not remember Sanders doing anything that suggested she thought about what she was doing; there was no discussion, it was just bang bang, and it was done. (2T259).

From when the truck drove off to when Sanders fired the gun was a very short time, just a few seconds; the truck had only traveled ten or fifteen feet. (2T258-259).² After the shooting, Sanders ran around the house, and came back without the gun. (2T246-247). She asked Davis to tell the police that someone else had done the shooting. (2T247-248). Then Davis and Sanders ran to the place where Parker lay in the street. (2T245).

On the night of the shooting, Davis directed the police to the area by the house where he said Sanders had gone after the shooting. (2T248). The police found a revolver there, and the revolver contained five spent shells. (2T271-272,275). When the police found the truck that night, it had five bullet holes in the rear of the truck or the cab. (2T297-298). A firearms expert testified that pulling the trigger of the revolver from a cocked position would have taken three pounds of pressure; pulling the trigger from the uncocked position would have taken 13.25 pounds. (2T286-287).

Defense counsel did not move for judgment of acquittal. He did assert, in closing argument, that the evidence did not prove premeditation. (3T391-392).

²At one point, Davis testified that there were four or five minutes between Sanders's discovery that cocaine was missing and the shooting, but this was inconsistent with Davis's testimony that the truck was driving away when Sanders discovered that cocaine was missing, and the truck only got ten or fifteen feet away before the shooting. (2T257-259). Also, Davis corrected himself to say that only a few seconds had elapsed. (2T258-259).

Choice of Counsel - Issue II Facts

The following additional facts are pertinent to Issue II.

The jury reached a verdict in the first trial on May 13, 1998. (1R10). On September 14, 1998, the trial judge ordered a new trial based due to juror misconduct, over the state's objection. (1R22,29,35,40). The state appealed from the new trial order, but, on December 22, 1998, voluntarily dismissed its appeal. (Sanders v. State, Fla. 1st DCA, Case No. 98-3647). At the first trial, Sanders was represented by Elizabeth Broome, whose motion for new trial was granted by the trial judge. (1R12-21,40). A different attorney, Earl Overby, represented Sanders at the second trial. (1T1). There is no finding of insolvency in the record other than the order appointing the Public Defender for the purposes of appeal; both Broome and Overby were retained by Sanders, not appointed.

The prosecutor and Overby appeared before the trial judge on Wednesday, June 2, 1999, without Sanders present. (1T42-45). At that time, jury selection was scheduled for Monday, June 7, 1999, and the trial for Thursday, June 10, 1999. (1T42-45). Overby did not object to these dates. (1T42-45). The prosecutor also announced that two of the state's key witnesses from the first trial, Iris Crenshaw and Myron Davis, had disappeared, warrants had been issued for their arrest, and the state would seek to introduce their testimony from the first trial. (1T44).

On Monday, June 7, 1999, Overby moved for a continuance, stating that he had just been notified on the preceding Friday, June 4, 1999, that Myron Davis, had been located, and that another state witness was now unavailable. (1T3). Overby stated that the defense was not prepared. (1T3). The prosecutor asserted that the witness who was newly unavailable had merely examined a firearm for fingerprints, and was not needed as a witness. (1T4). He said that the only significant witness who was not available was Iris Crenshaw, and this was not a surprise to the defense. (1T4). The prosecutor also said:

> The state's ready. The victim's family is all here. They had to make travel arrangements to come from out of town and everything. It would be a great inconvenience and hardship for them to continue the case. The state's ready to go to trial.

(1T5). The judge denied the continuance. (1T5).

Sanders then told the judge her witnesses had not been subpoenaed. (1T5). The judge asked, "Mr. Overby, I recall there were witnesses who testified on Ms. Sanders behalf at the last trial, are they under subpoena?" (1T5). Overby replied, "No, sir, they are not. I neglected to do that." (1T5). Asked why he had neglected to do that, Overby said, "I wasn't fully aware of all of the witnesses that testified, Your Honor." (1T6). The judge ruled that jury selection would nonetheless go forward that morning, and he directed Overby to subpoena the witnesses who

testified for the defense at the first trial. (1T6). Sanders told the judge that there were additional defense witnesses who had not testified at the first trial. (1T6-8). The judge directed Overby to subpoena any witnesses he felt should be called, and the jury was then selected and sworn. (1T8,9,84).

The trial resumed three days later, on Thursday, June 10, 1999. (1T86). At that time, Overby advised the court that he had requested and not received a transcript of the testimony of witnesses other than Iris Crenshaw. (1T86-89). Sanders was then allowed to address the court:

> THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor. <u>I don't feel</u> that my attorney is ready to represent me as far as this trial right now. I haven't had time to read over anything and - as far as the transcripts of what the witnesses say for this time. And not only that, he - well this is my life on the line as far as this trial, and he's not prepared. THE COURT: Okay. Mr. Overby, do you want to THE DEFENDANT: I asked for a continuance last THE COURT: Ma'am, you're not the one trying the case, your attorney is going to be the one trying the case. I already have denied his request for continuance on your behalf. The witnesses that were referred to on Monday, the three - I guess it was three witnesses that testified in the first trial, have been served, it's my understanding. MR. OVERBY: That's correct, Your Honor. THE COURT: And Mr. Overby, are you prepared to represent Ms. Sanders at this trial? Ma'am, I'm not talking to you right now. MR. OVERBY: Your Honor, in one respect Ms. Sanders is correct in that <u>I did not receive</u> this transcript and could not provide her a copy of it until Monday morning. As you

know, we selected a jury on Monday that was sworn. Monday I was able to provide copies to Ms. Sanders so that she would go over We have not - it is true. them. She and I have not had the opportunity to go over the transcript together. I have gone over it thoroughly, but due to my absence from the state, I was not able to meet with her prior to that. Another factor, Your Honor -THE COURT: Let me address that individually though. You have had a chance to review that transcript? MR. OVERBY: Yes, sir. THE COURT: Depositions were taken in the original case and you have had the opportunity to receive those? MR. OVERBY: Those I received well in advance. THE COURT: Okay. Ms. Sanders was present in the original trial and therefore heard the testimony that's reflected in the transcript and therefore has heard the testimony that you've read. So next point. MR. OVERBY: Next point, Your Honor, is that the discovery materials that was requested, I received those Monday afternoon at approximately 1:30. Those contained additional - the statements from the police officers, the recorded statements of those witnesses. THE COURT: Well, that information was earlier provided to Ms. Broome who was original trial counsel, were they not? MR. OVERBY: Yes, sir. And we mentioned that at a pretrial conference on one occasion. You asked me had I obtained them from her, and I indicated that she was unable to provide me with them. She said they were scattered to the four winds and she couldn't put her hands on them. THE COURT: But subsequently you have received them. MR. OVERBY: I received them Monday afternoon at 1:30 p.m., Your Honor. THE COURT: So you've had the opportunity to review those. MR. OVERBY: I have. I have not had the opportunity to review them with Ms. Sanders. THE COURT: I'm more concerned about what

you've done in order to represent Ms. Sanders because she's not going to be conducting the trial of this case. MR. OVERBY: That's correct, Your Honor. THE COURT: Next point. MR. OVERBY: In relation to that point, part of my preparation would normally include my going over both the transcript and those recorded statements of the witnesses with Ms. Sanders to see if there are any matters that I could delve into. I must point out, Your Honor, that in reading this transcript at least five times there are numerous, numerous instances where Ms. Broom's questioning of witnesses made no sense to me. I was hoping to get with Ms. Sanders to have her assist me <u>in determining what - what evidence she was</u> trying to elicit. THE COURT: Well, Ms. Sanders, anything else you want to say, ma'am? THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor. On several occasions the State was able to have a continuance and this was my - as far as on the 7th, that was my first time asking for a continuance in this case, which everything was refused. You said some of the victim's family would be here, they're coming from out of town in which - this is my life on the line as far as this decision made today. THE COURT: Okay. I'm not going to go through on the record the various court hearings that have taken place since the inception of this case, because as a matter of record - it's a matter of record and it's contained in the court file and the court docket records. I'll not go through all that. But this case has been pending since 1997. It's been tried once and you were found guilty. I granted a new trial because of juror misconduct. Now it's on for trial. I'll deny your motion for continuance, and let's move on and take a -THE DEFENDANT: Can I dismiss my attorney? THE COURT: Are you prepared to represent yourself at trial? THE DEFENDANT: No, I'm not. THE COURT: That's your choice. You want to represent yourself at trial? THE DEFENDANT: If I can have more time to

<u>hire another attorney</u>. THE COURT: No, ma'am. I'm not going to grant you that time.

(1T90-95)(Emphasis added). Following this colloquy, there was discussion of the state's plea offer, and there was testimony from a transcriber that convinced Overby he had received the entire transcript of the first trial. (1T95-98). Next, the judge returned to petitioner's request to dismiss her lawyer:

> THE COURT: Ms. Sanders - or Ms. Sanders, come on back up here. Mr. Rimmer [prosecutor], Mr. Overby, I want to make sure the record is protected on this and I think maybe in responding to Ms. Sanders - step back a little bit, ma'am. I want to make sure I was careful enough in terms of certain inquiries because it may well be that the Court should conduct a formal Nelson inquiry or conduct it to some degree. But Ms. Sanders, raise your right hand to be sworn. (Defendant sworn.) THE COURT: Ma'am, I'll just have you affirm that everything you said to me up at the bench in our bench conference about ten minutes ago was true and accurate? THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir. THE COURT: Now, you've expressed concerns about Mr. Overby and he has responded to that. And based upon his responses, particularly as it relates to the - his studies of the transcripts and depositions and discovery, it appears to the Court he's prepared to go forward with the trial. You expressed concerns because he has not gone over those with you; and is that the only concern that you have regarding Mr. Overby's representation of you at this point? THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir. THE COURT: All right. And I find that Mr. Overby has prepared himself for the trial and has not acted ineffectively and is representing Ms. Sanders up to this point in time competently and effectively. Ma'am, I

can advise you that you have the right to discharge Mr. Overby, if you wish. If you discharge Mr. Overby, you have the right to represent yourself in this matter. If there were an attorney present who is willing to go forward and represent you at this time, then they could take over the case. But that does not appear to be the case. And it's my understanding that you do not wish to go forward today representing yourself; is that correct? THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir. THE COURT: So with that understanding, then, are you prepared to have Mr. Overby represent you for trial today? THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I am.

(1T98-100)(Emphasis added).

The trial began the same day as this discussion, and all testimony was received in one day. (1T117-2T371). Closing argument, instructions to the jury, deliberation, verdict, and imposition of sentence all occurred the next morning. (3T378-450).

The defense did present witnesses, who tended to show that it was Larry Moore, not Rosalyn Sanders, who killed Felix Parker. Three teenage boys, speaking to the police immediately after the crime and testifying at trial, implicated Moore rather than Sanders. (2T317,320-322,325-326,328). They were impeached by conflicting statements made to the police several days after the shooting, and by testimony questioning whether they were in a position to see the shooting. (2T365-367,369). The defense also called a friend of Iris Crenshaw's, who testified that as she left the crime scene, Crenshaw said she did not see who fired the shots. (2T341). Moore and Crenshaw were both impeached with their extensive criminal records. (1T157-160,171-172;2T199-200, 209,212).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Issue I. The evidence of premeditation was insufficient because the facts as testified to by the state's witnesses show that this was an unplanned shooting that happened over the course of a few seconds, prompted by a perceived theft that occurred immediately before the shooting. Thus the state's evidence demonstrated that this was not a premeditated killing. The defense never raised this insufficiency in a motion for judgment of acquittal to the trial court, and the case law leaves some doubt as to whether conviction of a crime not proved is fundamental error. This Court should reaffirm its decisions finding insufficient evidence to be fundamental error and hold that the failure to prove all the elements of a crime may be raised for the first time on appeal.

Issue II. Petitioner's complaint that her lawyer was not prepared, and her request for a continuance to hire different counsel, were rejected by the trial judge, despite overwhelming evidence confirming the accuracy of her concern. On the day of jury selection, the lawyer said he was not prepared. He did not subpoena witnesses until ordered to do so by the judge on the day of jury selection. He failed to obtain the transcript of the

first trial until the morning of jury selection and he failed to obtain police reports containing statements of witnesses to the police until the afternoon of the day of jury selection. He was absent from the state for the three days between jury selection and the trial, so he was unable to meet with petitioner, despite his not understanding the intent of the defense questions of witnesses in the first trial, which he was reading for the first time. The prosecutor did not claim that the state's ability to present its case would be prejudiced by a delay of the trial. Forcing the defendant to trial with unprepared counsel in a first degree murder case under these circumstances was an abuse of discretion that violated petitioner's constitutional right to counsel.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I. CONVICTION OF PREMEDITATED MURDER WITHOUT PROOF OF PREMEDITATION IS FUNDAMENTAL ERROR.

The first degree murder charge was submitted to the jury only on a premeditation theory; no felony murder instruction was given. (3T423-425). Hence, premeditation was an essential element of the crime for which Sanders was convicted. The state's evidence failed to prove premeditation, and in fact proved the opposite, an unpremeditated shooting provoked by events immediately preceding the shooting.

The shooting was prompted by Sanders's discovery, correct or

not, that Larry Moore was driving off with some of her cocaine. According to the state's evidence, upon making this discovery, Sanders shouted at the departing truck, which did not stop, and then pulled out a gun and shot five times. State witness Davis described this as a quick, bang bang and it's over, event, with no indication that Sanders thought about what she was doing. All five shots fired struck the truck, but only one hit a person. There was no evidence of a decision to kill prior to the shooting, and no evidence of a decision to kill during the shooting. Sanders could have intended all five shots to hit the truck without striking any person, and she could have been seeking to frighten the occupants, or simply venting her anger at being robbed, without ever forming an intent to kill.

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