IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ROSALYN ANN SANDERS,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

CASE NO. SC00-1688

RESPONDENT'S AMENDED ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS
TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF,
CRIMINAL APPEALS
FLORIDA BAR NO. 325791

KAREN M. HOLLAND ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0139671

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 ext. 3602

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

C. FUNDAMENTAL ERROR

Florida

has described fundamental error in various terminology. See e.g., Randall v. State, 25 Fla. L. Weekly S317 (Fla. 2000)("For an error to be so fundamental that it can be raised for the first time on appeal, the error must be basic to the judicial decision under review and equivalent to a denial of due process."); Sochor v. State, 619 So.2d 285 (Fla.1993)(Fundamental error occurs in cases where a jurisdictional error appears or where the interests of justice present a compelling demand for its application. The error must amount to a denial of due process.); Sanford v. Rubin, 237 So. 2d 134 (Fla. 1970) (Fundamental error which can be considered on appeal without objection in the lower court, is error which goes to the foundation of the case or goes to the merits of the cause of action.); State v. Delva, 575 So.2d 643 (Fla. 1991)("[v]erdict of guilt could not have been obtained without the assistance of the alleged error."); Hamilton v. State, 88 So.2d 606, 607 (Fla. 1956)("[A] wrong so fundamental that it made the whole proceeding a mere pretense of a trial and rendered the conviction and sentence wholly void."); White v. State, 446 So.2d 1031, 1034 (Fla. 1984) ("We do not find this error to be of the magnitude that would have prevented the jury from reaching a fair and impartial verdict so as to render the error fundamental.") Fundamental error - as defined within the context of sufficiency of the evidence claims - occurs where a conviction is "totally"

unsupported by the evidence. Troedel v. State, 462 So.2d 392, 399

(Fla. 1984)("Appellant's challenges to his convictions and sentences do not include the argument that he was improperly convicted of two separate counts of burglary when there was in fact only one commission of this statutory offense. However, we reach this issue anyway because we believe that a conviction imposed upon a crime totally unsupported by the evidence constitutes fundamental error."; Vance v. State, 472 So. 2d 734, 735 (Fla. 1985)(same). See also, Negron v. State, 306 So. 2d 104 (Fla. 1974)(finding fundamental error where there was no evidence establishing the value of the stolen property at time of theft).

It appears that this Court's approach to fundamental error regarding sufficiency issues parallels the approach taken by the federal courts.

Federal System

Under Rule 52(b) of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure, plain errors or defects affecting substantial rights may be noticed although they were not brought to the attention of the court. To be noticed under this rule, an error must be "plain" or "obvious" and must have affected the outcome of the District Court proceedings.

³ To preserve a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence and avoid the burden of showing plain error, a defendant in Federal court must have moved for a judgement of acquittal at the close of all the evidence or in a post-trial motion. Fed. R. Crim. P. Rule 29(a,c); <u>United States v. Allen</u>, 127 F.3d 260 (2nd Cir. 1997).

"When reviewing sufficiency-of-the-evidence challenges for plain error, a Court of Appeals will reverse only to prevent a manifest miscarriage of justice, which will exist only if record is devoid of evidence pointing to quilt, or because evidence on key element of offense was so tenuous that conviction would be shocking." <u>United States v. Spinner</u>, 152 F.3d 950, 956 (D.C. Cir. 1998). <u>See</u>, United States v. Pena-Lora, 225 F.3d 17 (1st Cir. 2000)("Total lack of evidence that man whom hostage-taking victim saw carrying firearms was defendant constituted plain error."); <u>United States v.</u> Meadows, 91 F.3d 851 n.6 (7th Cir. 1996) ("a complete lack of any evidence of one of the essential elements of a crime is not only insufficient evidence, but too little evidence to avoid a manifest miscarriage of justice."); Beckett v. United States, 379 F.3d 863, 874 (9th Cir. 1967)(finding plain error despite defendant's waiver of sufficiency challenge where there is "no proof whatsoever" of one of the essential elements of the charged offense."); United States v. Zolicoffer, 869 F.2d 771, 775 (3rd Cir. 1989)(finding plain error where "the record is absolutely barren of any evidence" on an essential element of the crime.).

Conversely, when there is "some" evidence, the evidence is legally sufficient to send the case to the jury. <u>United States v.</u> Talley, 188 F.3d 510 (6th Cir 1999). "Some" evidence means there is no error; and if there is no error, there certainly cannot be fundamental error.

D. RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN PRESERVATION & FUNDAMENTAL ERROR

The legislative and judicial efforts to reform the criminal appeals process over the last several years have been necessary and productive. It is worth emphasizing that the intent and the goals of this collective effort have been to minimize frivolous appeals, to maximize the efficiency of the appellate system, and to place the task of correcting most errors in the lap of the trial court.

The critical statutory amendment affecting an appellate court's jurisdiction and scope of review is contained in the Criminal Appeals Reform Act, section 924.051(3), which states: "an appeal may not be taken from a judgement or order of a trial court unless a prejudicial error is alleged and is properly preserved or, if not properly preserved, would constitute fundamental error."

Accordingly, the State submits that the obligation rests upon the courts to recognize and maintain a middle-ground which will secure to the defendant on trial the rights afforded him by law without sacrificing the protection to society. Stated differently, the trial court must maintain a balance through the continued use of both the preservation rule and the doctrine of fundamental error. Petitioner argues that the doctrine of fundamental error should be expanded to encompass all unpreserved claims of insufficient evidence. However, this would eliminate the doctrine of fundamental error from the context of sufficiency issues, thereby disturbing the balance between the need for procedural regularity and the demands of fairness. As Justice Cardozo explained in Snyder v. Commonwealth of Mass., 54 S.Ct. 330, 338

(1934), "But justice, though due to the accused, is due to the accuser also. The concept of fairness must not be strained till it is narrowed to a filament. We are to keep the balance true." (Emphasis added).

As noted prior, the preservation rule serves two important policies. One, in the interest of orderly procedure, the trial court ought to be given an opportunity to address a claimed error, and if appropriate, correct it. Two, a defendant should not be permitted to forego making an objection with the strategy of enhancing the defendant's chance of acquittal and then, if that strategy fails, claiming on appeal that the Court should reverse. To serve these polices, this Court has held that preservation rules apply to every claim, even constitutional questions. Indeed, with regards to sentencing errors, this Court recently provided that there is no sentencing error that is fundamental for purposes of the new act. See, Maddox v. State, 760 So.2d 89 (Fla. 2000)(all sentencing errors occurring after November 16, 1999 barred if not raised at trial or in 3.800 motion).

The United States Supreme Court has wisely stated, in regards to preservation:

The contemporaneous objection rule is by no means peculiar to Florida and deserves greater respect than Petitioner gives it. Both for the fact that it is employed by a coordinate jurisdiction within the federal system and for the many interests which it serves in its own right.

Failure to require compliance with the contemporaneous objection rule tends to detract from the perception of the trial of a criminal case as a decisive and portentous event. A defendant has been accused of a serious crime, and this is the time and place set for him to be tried by

a jury of his peers and found either guilty or not guilty by that jury.

To the greatest extent possible all issues which bear on this charge should be determined in this proceeding: the accused is in the court-room, the jury is in the box, the judge is on the bench, and the witnesses, having been subpoenaed and duly sworn, await their turn to testify. Society's resources have been concentrated at that time and place in order to decide, within the limits of human fallibility, the question of guilt or innocence of one of its citizens. Any procedural rule which encourage those proceedings be as free of error as possible is thoroughly desirable, and the contemporaneous objection rule surely falls within this classification.

Wainright v. Sykes, 97 S.Ct. 2497, 2508 (U.S. Fla. 1977).

The State urges that rules of procedure are essential to the administration of justice. Adherence to the preservation rule has a salutary effect of making a trial on the merits the "main event" rather than a "tryout" on the road to the appellate court. If a criminal defendant thinks that an action of the trial court is about to deprive him of his rights and afford him an unfair trial, there is every reason for his following procedure in making known his objection.

The State recognizes that there is a certain point at which an evidentiary insufficiency is so obvious and fundamental - where the record is "devoid of evidence" pointing to guilt. Only at this point should the courts embrace fundamental error. As this Court has stated, "the Appellate court should exercise its discretion under the doctrine of fundamental error very guardedly." Sanford v. Rubin, 237 So.2d 134 (Fla. 1970). See also, Castor v. State, 365 So.2d 701, 704 (Fla. 1978)("[t]he doctrine of fundamental error is to remain a limited exception to the requirement that a trial judge must be given an opportunity to correct his own errors.").

Enlargement of the concept of fundamental error to include all unpreserved sufficiency issues will contribute nothing to the administration of justice. Moreover, the State argues that an important function of an attorney in a trial is to assist the court. It is the judge's responsibility to supervise the trial. If counsel performs his duty and promptly calls attention to possible insufficiencies in the evidence which he considers prejudicial, the court can examine the issue and if necessary take corrective measures.

The State wishes to stress that corrective measures include the opportunity for the State to reopen its case and present any additional evidence necessary to survive the judgement acquittal. Pitts v. State, 185 So.2d 164 (Fla. 1966) (ordinarily the question of allowing the reopening of cases is one involving sound judicial discretion which will rarely be interfered with at the appellate level); <u>Fitzhugh v. State</u>, 698 So.2d 571 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997)(rejecting Fitzhugh's claim that the trial court erred in sua sponte reopening the State's case in order to entertain additional evidence on the new substantive offense); United States v. Rouse, 111 F.3d 561 (8th Cir. 1997) ("The trial court has broad discretion to allow the prosecution to reopen its case to establish an element of an offense after the defendant has moved for judgment of acquittal."). This remedy and the preservation requirement are particularly important in the context of "wholly-circumstantial" evidence cases. In this context, legally sufficient evidence means the State has presented evidence inconsistent with defendant's

reasonable hypothesis of innocence. Thus, the defendant <u>must</u> assert a hypothesis of innocence for the State to rebut. Moreover, this hypothesis of innocence must be the same hypothesis raised on appeal. Otherwise, the appellate court cannot engage in an adequate review. The prosecutor will have an eye to the defendant's hypothesis of innocence in preparation and presentation of his case. The prosecutor cannot fashion his case and the evidence to address every conceivable hypothesis of innocence that the defendant could possibly raise. Unless the requirement of preservation is strictly followed, a defendant can engage in sandbagging by asserting one hypothesis at trial, then claiming on appeal that the prosecutor failed to rebut his different theory on appeal (as occurred in the case at bar).

To conclude, the general rule that claims not raised before the trial court may not be raised on appeal applies to every claim unless a defendant can demonstrate that exceptional circumstance of fundamental error. The fundamental error exception applies primarily to those rare procedural anomalies where the State's case is "totally devoid" of evidence pointing to guilt. The interaction between the preservation rule and the doctrine of fundamental error enables the appellate court to balance the need for procedural regularity with the demands of fairness.

Further, the preservation requirement is firmly entrenched in the appellate system and rules continue to be adopted and amended to promote its goals. Thus, Petitioner's claim that we should relax the preservation rule and expand the doctrine of fundamental error is contrary to what has been a collective effort to minimize frivolous appeals, maximize judicial efficiency, and place the task of correcting most errors in the circuit court.

III. AMICUS CURIAE

Amicus alleges that unpreserved challenges to the sufficiency of the evidence should "always" be treated as fundamental error cognizable on direct appeal. Amicus argues that a conviction based on legally insufficient evidence is a denial of due process and the quintessential example of fundamental error; therefore, appellate courts should always treat unpreserved sufficiency issues as fundamental error. (AB.6-7). The State disagrees.

Initially, the State acknowledges that where a conviction is totally unsupported by evidence of guilt, the evidence would certainly be "legally insufficient" and would constitute fundamental error. However, the State stresses from the outset that the entire posture of Amicus' argument is premised on the "hypothetical" situation that <u>all</u> challenges to the sufficiency of the evidence are <u>valid</u> challenges resting upon fundamental error. In fact, valid fundamental error claims are an anomaly. Whereas claims of legal insufficiency by motion for judgement of acquittal are commonplace.

Indeed, Amicus repeatedly acknowledges that valid claims of fundamental error are rare, stating: "Trial courts will have additional work in those <u>rare</u> cases where the issue succeeds on direct appeal." (AB.3); "Serious, unpreserved sufficiency issues

are <u>rare</u>." (AB.3,14); "Extra judicial labor will be needed only in those <u>rare</u> cases in which there is an unpreserved sufficiency issue that merits serious consideration." (AB.10); "[i]n those <u>rare</u> cases where the issue [of fundamental error] arises." (AB.10).

In short, Petitioner is attempting to take an unrealistic hypothetical and have this Court transform the entire appellate process based upon that hypothetical. Petitioner attempts to blur the very real distinction between the rare, valid case of fundamental error and the countless cases of invalid and unpreserved claims of error. Petitioner then argues to this Court that, regardless of which is the case, an appellate court should always engage in a comprehensive de novo review. The State urges this Court to keep in mind the real and sizeable distinction between what is and is not fundamental error and to address Amicus' claims based not on his hypothetical but on the criminal justice system as it operates in fact.

The State suggests that the amicus brief - consisting of 50 pages with 36 often lengthy footnotes - is unduly and unnecessarily voluminous - as evidenced by this Court's order that the original 60 page Amicus brief be reduced to conform to page requirements. Further, the State suggests that the amicus brief tends to obscure the legal issue. Accordingly, in view of page and time constraints, the State will only address the following particulars.

CLAIM 1. THERE IS NO CLEAR TEST OF FUNDAMENTAL ERROR

Petitioner argues that the courts have been unable to formulate a coherent test of fundamental error. That the apparent distinction between cases treated as fundamental error and those that are not is whether the State could have possibly "cured the defect" had the issued been raised at trial. The State disagrees. First, while the districts may hold conflicting views on this particular case, Florida and United States Supreme Court case law—which is binding on all districts—is well—settled as to what constitutes fundamental error. To reiterate, fundamental error, as it applies here, exists where the record is "devoid" of evidence pointing to guilt. By contrast, when there is "some" evidence, there is no error, thus no fundamental error, and the issue becomes one for the jury.

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